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  Preface




  ΤHΕ ARRANGEMENT of the text of Carl von Hügel’s New Holland Journal posed many problems.




  The two thousand page manuscript had to be reduced to a manageable length. Extensive cuts have been made, but without sacrificing any names of places visited or persons encountered by Hugel himself, or any botanical references.




  Deletions are indicated by. . ., sometimes accompanied by information about the omitted material. A gap left in the text by the original amanuensis is indicated thus: (. . .). All interpolations by the translator are shown by [ ]. Section headings have been inserted by the translator.




  Completely indecipherable expressions—words, phrases, units of currency or measurement, abbreviations etc.—have usually been omitted entirely. The Austrian units of length, Schuh and Fuss, have been rendered by foot. The word Klafier = fathom = 1.828 metre is usually regarded as equivalent to two yards, but is occasionally translated as cord (i.e. of wood etc.). For the sake of readability, there may occasionally have been a falling-away from these high principles. The author’s own footnotes are indicated by an asterisk, the translator’s are numbered serially. Errors of fact in the original text have not always been corrected. Caveat lector!




  In general, Hügel’s first name is given as Carl, as it appears on his birth and baptismal certificate; Karl and Charles are frequent later variants. When proper names occur for the first time in the text, they are spelt as in the original MS, followed by the modern spelling in square brackets, e.g. Morumbidbee [Murrumbidgee]; or Mr [Dr Thomas] Harrison. Botanical terms are reproduced as far as possible as in the original, followed by the modern equivalent in [ ] only when the MS spelling is very distorted.




  In the Botanical Index, all botanical names occurring in the text are listed alphabetically alongside their modern equivalents where these could be ascertained. There is also a list of those Australian plants whose names include the word huegel and another of botanical names attributed to Hügel as author.




  A Biographical Index gives information on key personalities referred to in the narrative.




  No one could be more aware of the imperfections in this edition than myself. There will always be others coming on who are able to improve it. Let us hope that Carl von Hiigel will arouse sufficient interest for that to happen.
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  Introduction




  ON 28 MAY 1834 all the notables in the colony of New South Wales had come from far and near to crowd into the modest saloon of the old Government House in Sydney for the greatest event of the colonial calendar: the levée to celebrate the birthday of His Britannic Majesty. One after another they filed right past the Governor, General Sir Richard Bourke, and came to a halt before a resplendent figure in the uniform of a Captain of the Imperial Austrian Hussars. Here they made obeisance and paid him the compliments of the day. His name was Baron Charles von Hügel.




  More seriously, such portentous praise was lavished by the pundits, including the great Alexander von Humboldt himself, on Hügel’s pioneering four-volume work on Kashmir and the Kingdom of the Sikhs1 that this was hailed in academic circles as of ‘world-historical significance’.2




  In May 1849 the Patron’s Gold Medal of the Royal Geographical Society of London was awarded to Baron von Hügel for his contributions to knowledge ob terras reclusas, including the vast natural history and ethnological collections he had brought home from Australia.3 Other gold medallists of that Society included Edward John Eyre, Captain Charles Sturt, Dr Ludwig Leichhardt, Louis Antoine de Bougainville and Paul Edmund de Strzelecki; not to mention Charles Darwin and both Alexander and Wilhelm von Humboldt. These names still ring in our ears.




  The list of Hügel’s decorations and distinctions from both the Old and the New World for prowess as a soldier, diplomat, courtier, naturalist, geographer, traveller and horticulturist fills several pages. All over Europe he was celebrated for the magnificent gardens he created from Italy to St Petersburg, and for inspiring the cultivation of exotic plants, especially the fashionable ‘New Holland plants’.




  Even Ferdinand von Mueller’s prodigious exertions on behalf of Australian botany we seem to owe indirectly to Carl von Hügel. On 29 January 1867 Mueller wrote to Hiigel (in German) from the Botanical Garden in Melbourne:




  In the years 1840–46 Your Excellency’s descriptions of the vegetation of Australia so excited me that. . . in the year 18471 turned my attention to this great southern land mass . . . So it was you, Your Excellency, who induced me to follow this path . . . It was your writings that prompted the decision.




  The current Australian Plant Name Index contains thirty-five plant names and one generic name (seventeen of them still in use) containing huegel as part of the name, and nine plant names attributed to Hiigel as author.4




  Where does Hügel’s name resound now?




  Carl Alexander Anselm Freiherr von Hügel was born in Regensburg on 23 April 1795. His father was born a commoner in Koblenz on the Rhine but was ennobled in 1791 for services to the Catholic Elector Archbishop of Trier at the Reichstag of the old Holy Roman Empire. There were strong bonds of family friendship and political allegiance binding the Hügels to a more famous son of Koblenz—Prince Metternich, the all-powerful Chancellor of the Austrian Empire of the Hapsburgs. Before the Holy Roman Empire finally expired in 1806, the Hügels had moved to Vienna in the service of the Austrian Imperial government, and thereafter remained closely enmeshed with Metternich and the Imperial court.




  Carl’s early education, strict and very Catholic, was at home with private tutors. At fifteen he enrolled as a law student at Heidelberg, but in 1813 he went as an officer in the Austrian Army to fight in the ‘War of Liberation’ against Napoleon. After 1815 he was sent with Austrian diplomatic missions to Scandinavia and Russia, then south with the army as a Captain of Hussars to France and Italy.




  In 1824 Hügel resigned from the army and by virtue of his officer’s rank he acquired an estate at Hietzing, just outside the city limits of Vienna.5 Here he built a villa and devoted himself thenceforth to the natural sciences and to the creation of his gardens. Soon the estate was famed as ‘a scene of beauty fairy-like in its loveliness’.6 Hietzing became Hugel’s lodestar.




  Here at Hietzing in the 1820s, among his other exotic plants, Hiigel already had growing so many ‘New Holland plants’ that when on 27 November 1833 he at last set foot on the sandy soil at the mouth of the Swan River in Western Australia, he had ‘a compelling feeling of being in my own garden’ as ‘the native flora became more and more familiar—Hakea, Epacris, Eucalyptus, Acacia. Familiar species all, they gave me friendly greeting and even Hügelias lovely blue flowers reached up to me in kinship’.




  Carl von Hügel’s idyllic existence as private scholar, horticulturist and elegant cavalier under Metternich’s protection came to a sudden end on New Year’s Eve 1829. On that night Hügel’s betrothal to the beautiful young Countess Mélanie Zichy-Ferraris, of an ancient but impoverished Hungarian line, was finally broken off. He made way for a more powerful suitor, then in his mid-fifties: Prince Clemens Wenzel Lothar von Metternich-Winneburg.7 In January 1831 Countess Mélanie became the third Princess Metternich.




  Hügel’s life and dreams were shattered. Long before the wedding he left Vienna for France and England. Thanks presumably to intercessions of various kinds by both Emperor and Chancellor, his longstanding plans for world travel were set in motion and in May 1831 he sailed from Toulon in a French naval ship. After extensive travels in the Middle East and southern India, in September 1833 he boarded the British naval frigate Alligator (Captain George Lambert) in Madras, bound for Singapore, the Dutch East Indies and Australia—which Hügel still preferred to call by its old name, New Holland.




  The Alligator finally anchored off Fremantle on 27 November of that year, and then set sail for her stormy passage to King George Sound on 19 December. From New Year’s Day until 11 January 1834 she lay off Albany. After a quick run to Van Diemen’s Land (as Tasmania was then known) she was anchored in the Derwent off Hobart Town from 21 January to 8 February and then ran up the east coast of Van Diemen’s Land and New South Wales to Port Jackson, anchoring off Sydney Cove on 14 February. With Hügel on board, the Alligator sailed for New Zealand on 25 February. Our translation of Hügel’s Journal does not include his account of this visit to the Bay of Islands but resumes with his entry for 4 April, when, on the return voyage to Sydney, he spent several hours on Norfolk Island. The Alligator anchored off Sydney Cove for the second time on 16 April. Six months later, on 6 October 1834, Hügel finally left Australia on board the merchantman North Briton bound for Manila; so that in all he spent ten months in Australasia.




  After his travels in the Philippines,8 Hügel went via Canton and Macao to Calcutta. From there he set out on his epic journey to the Himalayas, Kashmir and the Punjab, the subject of his pioneering work Kaschmir und das Reich der Siek which earned him his chief fame as a scholar. He then turned for home, calling at Delhi, Bombay, the Cape of Good Hope and St Helena. Late in 1836 he was in London. Hügel completed the last stage of his six-year pilgrimage in the guise of a diplomat, via Paris, cas a courier from London to Vienna; issued with travel allowances in advance and provided with court carriage [Hofreisekalesche]’ 9




  In Vienna he was fêted all winter.10 Altogether, apart from 12 000 ‘memorandum slips’, he had brought or sent home 32 000 objects of natural history, 1249 coins, 928 ethnological items, 63 idols and temple utensils, 40 musical instruments, many ornaments, textiles and rare manuscripts. From 1834 onwards, entries in the Staatskanzley Protokoll record the consignment on his behalf of cases of Naturalien from the ends of the earth— sometimes five or eight cases at a time—all addressed to his mother in Vienna. Many cases were also consigned to the care of Baron Philipp von Neumann at the Austrian Embassy in London, for, as Hügel wrote to him from Sydney (in French) on 22 June 1834, ‘England is the only country in Europe that maintains communications with these distant parts’. In another letter of 24 August he mentions that one item, ‘a small volume addressed to my mother under cover of the Embassy, contains my diary, which I pray you will convey to her by some sure means’. We may suppose that this volume contained the germ of Hügel’s Neuholland.




  After lengthy and sometimes troubled negotiations (occasionally reported by Professor Stephan Endlicher in letters to the English botanist George Bentham),11 the bulk of these collections, from tiny insects to huge idols, was bought by the Imperial government ‘for a very high price’ and found its way into the Emperor’s Naturalienkabinett (later Naturhistorisches Museum) in Vienna. Almost overnight after Hügel’s return, the botanists Endlicher, Bentham, Fenzl and Schott were closeted in Vienna and began their work on Hügel’s Australian plant collections.12 The results were published in 183713 and 1838.14 In February and October of 1837 the two first (and last) issues appeared of a Botanisches Archiv of the Austrian Gartenbau-Geselhchaft (Horticultural Society) just founded by Hügel under Imperial auspices. With rich hand-coloured illustrations, these contained detailed descriptions in German and Latin of a number of flowering plants found by Hügel (mainly in Australia) and already flowering in his gardens.




  Life was resumed in Hietzing much as before, with Hügel now working on his Kaschmir volumes. Like Alexander von Humboldt, who in his Kosmos frequently cites Hügel’s Kaschmir as an authority,15 he drew largely on specialist scholars and (anonymous) artists for this. The narrative style is highly personal, his own sketches are elaborated as engravings. The careful map was drawn by John Arrowsmith but attributed to Carl von Hügel.16




  His pleasure gardens at Hietzing and the attached commercial nursery developed prodigiously. Hothouses sprang up, pergolas dripped with flowering Kennedias and Hardenbergias (the latter named after his sister, Franziska Countess von Hardenberg). In an undated letter to Sir William Hooker of Kew Gardens, in between offers of and requests for Australian (no longer New Holland!) plants, Hügel writes (in English): CI have just completed the building of a very handsome new house for Orchideous plants, 24 yards long and 5 wide’—and in another of 29 March 1842: I had at the end of last month an exhibition in my conservatorium for the benefit of our poor Horticultural Society, which succeeded beautifully . . . My collection of Camellias comprises 1200 kinds in upwards of 30 000 [sic] plants’.




  On 14 February 1840 Endlicher writes to Bentham (in German): ‘Hügel is the same as of old—charming, obliging, ever zealous in the service of the ladies. I am very fond of him’—and on 20 October 1841:




  

    Carl Hügel has expanded his garden and his collection in the most astonishing manner. The whole world is at a loss to know how he can be in a position to afford such vast expenditure, for he not only spends huge sums on his garden, but also leads the life of a very wealthy man in all other respects. His friends are concerned that when Prince Metternich (who is now hastening with giant strides towards mental and physical disintegration) is no longer at hand, he cannot possibly continue in this fashion.


  




  During these years Hügel is in almost daily contact with Mélanie—sending flowers daily, consulting with her on garden design, dining at the Metternichs’ table and accompanying them on excursions (often in company with his brother Clemens).17 There is also a steady exchange of letters between them until the last year of Mélanie’s life—a correspondence conducted on an elevated, highly-charged emotional plane, reminding us that theirs was the age of sensibility. Almost three years after his return to Vienna, Hügel still writes to her, in the third person, ‘of a man who sought healing and oblivion in every land on earth . . .’18 In the eyes of Viennese society Hiigel was ‘chained’—fruitlessly, for no personal preferment eventuated.19 Mélanie was his second lodestar.




  But the chain was wearing thinner, for in 1847 Carl von Hügel, at 52, was betrothed in Verona to Elizabeth Farquharson, the teenage daughter of a Scottish general.




  In 1848 fate shattered Hügel’s outwardly peaceful existence at Hietzing for the second time. The March revolution in Vienna against the oppressive rule throughout the Hapsburg Empire concentrated its hostility on Metternich, who was forced to resign and flee the country. As other friends and protégés fell away, Carl and Clemens von Hügel rallied to the Prince and his family. Carl secured a place of temporary refuge for them in Prince Liechtenstein’s castle at Feldsberg. When Metternich’s money chests proved empty, it was Carl who handed him a packet of 8000 florins from his breast pocket, for the journey. It was Carl who drove the ailing Prince and the Princess ‘in a common fiacre’ through the hostile mobs in Vienna and then in the depth of night to Feldsberg. From there Hügel escorted them through thick and thin across Europe to the safety of Holland, ‘not sleeping but in my clothes for ten days’.20




  Hügel stayed close to the Metternichs in exile in England till 1849, when he returned to Vienna—but not to Hietzing. His estate was sold and eventually ‘the gardens came into the possession of the Duke of Cumberland, who, however, immediately sold them’ for suburban development,21 confirming Hügel’s own views on the British character.




  In 1849 Hügel rejoined the Austrian army as a major and then served from 1849 until 1859 as chargé d’affaires at the court of Tuscany in Florence, where he married his Protestant British bride by papal dispensation in 1851. From 1860 until 1867 he was Austrian ambassador in Brussels. In both posts he was distinguished by his conciliatory courtesy, his gracious and cultivated hospitality and his continuing passionate interest in horticulture. After three years in retirement in southern England, he set out in failing health to find his last resting-place in Vienna, but died on the way in Brussels in June 1870, leaving a daughter and two sons who both achieved distinction in learned circles in Britain.22




  What then of Carl von Hügel’s Neuholland?. This manuscript still poses many unanswered questions: where and when was the final version composed and by whom copied? What became of the original notes and drawings and the ‘small volume’ of his (Australian?) diary mentioned in his letter from Sydney to Neumann?




  The manuscript now held in the Mitchell Library in Sydney is written in the hand of an amanuensis, bound in three half-leather volumes with Australien embossed in gold on the spine of Volume I. The volumes are otherwise completely unmarked and unannotated, except for £9 entered in pencil inside the cover. This was the price at which the entire manuscript was listed in the catalogue of the London dealer Francis Edwards for the year 1932, when it was acquired by the Mitchell Library.




  And why is it that Hügel made no apparent attempt to prepare this work for publication? He himself wrote that the publication of his four Kaschmir volumes with their many specialist contributions had been so slow that he had decided on a ‘simpler form’ for the rest of his travel journals, and that his work on this simpler form was broken off by ‘the events of 1848’.23




  In a letter conveying New Year wishes to Prince Metternich, Hügel presumably also referred to the dilemma of his unpublished manuscripts. In his reply of 15 January 1859, Metternich encouraged him to push ahead with plans for the publication of ‘the material available to you, gleaned from your own experience. This venture will bring you new fame’. He suggests that an English publisher such as John Murray might be induced to bring out the edited ‘product in an English translation, as an original work’, and offers to help with introductions to Murray and to another publisher, Bohn. ‘Why should you make a gift to others of your own labours?’ he asks.24




  Der Stille Ocean . . ., an account of Hügel’s visit to the Philippines in 1834, was duly cast in ‘a simpler form’ and printed in 1860, without special illustrations or apparatus, by the court printery in Vienna,‘as a manuscript’ and for private circulation. In range and style this work closely resembles the manuscript of Neuholland.




  There is no record of any other major geographical work by Hiigel except for a treatise on the Kabul basin.25 The first few pages of our Neu-holland MS bear a number of almost indecipherable emendations in Hügel’s own hand. These end abruptly on page eleven. Does this mark the point at which ‘the events of 1848’ overtook him as he was editing the work for publication, or do they perhaps date from 1859?




  The title page of Neuholland is headed by the number VI, suggesting that it was intended as the sixth part of a series dealing with all the countries in which Hügel travelled extensively between 1831 and 1836. If so, where are the other parts? The title page also lists the name of Augusta as the second place in Western Australia to be described. But we know from the journal itself that bad weather on the south-west coast prevented Captain Lambert from attempting to bring the Alligator in to Augusta, so that Hügel, to his regret, never visited this settlement. Was this list of contents perhaps drawn up tentatively before ever Hugel set foot on the fifth continent?




  Why then did he not proceed to publish Part VI of his journal? One possible clue may be a remark about New Zealand in another of Hiigel’s letters from Sydney to Neumann. On 30 April 1834 he wrote: ‘As a country, it is rather too wild for me . . .’ In New South Wales, too, Hiigel repeatedly lamented the absence of signs of cultivation, of any human activity or habitation in the endless vistas of monotonous forest. (Once and once only was he betrayed into calling the forest of New Holland der Busch)26 Australia and New Zealand were too empty, too vacant for him. He also found the cost of living inordinately high in New South Wales: One month in Sydney with one servant costs me as much as four in India with fifteen or twenty’, he writes to Neumann on 22 June 1834. Perhaps this prevented him from organizing his ‘excursions into the interior’ on a scale permitting serious scientific investigations, and he was therefore reluctant to publish his journal?27




  Hügel remained obdurately a civilized European, an alien. He loathed the brash commercialism of Sydney and the empty ostentation of most social life there. Even at the banquet tables of the cream of colonial society he cruelly missed the cultivated and informed conversation of the circles he moved in in Europe.




  We must view Hügel’s strictures on the crude money-grubbing of even the gentlemen settlers in Australia, on the irreligion of the administration and the inhumanity of both the transportation system and the treatment of the Aborigines, in the light of his political background in Europe. Hügel was a true Metternich man, a passionate supporter of Imperial Austria, of a centralized, aristocratic, Catholic monarchy as the only bulwark against the disintegration of civilization.28 Cultural dissolution, he believed, would be the inevitable consequence of the triumph of democracy, Protestantism, rationalism and greed. These beliefs were the third lodestar of Hügel’s life. He railed against the harshness of the British criminal code and the dispossession of the original owners of Australia—but he gave no sign that he knew or cared about the oppression of minorities in the outposts of Austria’s great continental empire.




  We must not exaggerate Hügel’s alien view of Australian society, and he certainly was not inhumane. If we compare his account with Settlers and Convicts by Alexander Harris, a Protestant Englishman and ostensibly a humble carpenter and cedar-sawyer who wrote about the New South Wales of exactly the same period, we are struck by the parallel responses of these two very different observers: to the awesomeness of the rugged coastline, of the deep silent forests and mountain crags; to the natural, kindly charm of the pretty native-born women and girls, unspoiled by the artificial education of Europe; to the sturdy independence of the ‘small planters’ and the generous hospitality of the humbler settlers. Both men react with horror to the brutalities of the convict system. Both view with scepticism the efforts of the Christian missionaries to evangelize the Aborigines and both verge on accusing the evangelizers of hypocrisy. Both deplore the failure of the authorities to provide religious teaching and pastoral care for the convicts.




  But there are basic differences in their reactions. To Alexander Harris, the poor immigrant journeyman who walked the colony in search of work, the roads of New South Wales seemed good, while to the Baron in his hired gig they were mostly an abomination. The successful ex-convicts whom Harris met had ‘a sort of open manliness about their character that was very agreeable’. Of the most successful of them all, the ‘Botany Bay Rothschild’ Samuel Terry, he wrote: ‘I believe no one who knew him well begrudged him his good fortune. At this farm he had merely an overseer and a few men. The overseer received me very civilly, made me have his supper with himself, and gave me a very snug bed.’




  Baron von Hügel, on the other hand, travelled with the exclusive Macarthurs, Blaxlands and Macleays, and when he and his party arrived at one of the Illawarra properties of this same Samuel Terry, ‘a usurer who had ruined many people’, they ‘asked to speak to the overseer who stepped forward with an insolence and coarseness worthy of his master and asked us our business . . . The purpose of our visit was to ask whether there was a track to Bong Bong. Without answering, the overseer pointed to one of his men . . .’ One has only to read Hügel’s own account of the total ostracism of the emancipists and their families by the gentlemen settlers to understand the great discrepancy between the stories told by these two first-hand observers.




  That there was another side to the issue Hügel heard directly—doubtless with many embellishments—from old Solomon Wiseman, his emancipist host at Wiseman’s Ferry. But apart from recording some of their dialogue together, Hugel merely notes: ‘‘I was interested to hear Wiseman’s opinion on many matters and individuals in the colony. It was naturally completely different from those I had heard previously’. The Baron was too closely identified with the gentlemanly ‘exclusives’ to elaborate on these interesting views or to allow them to dent his own.




  I believe it is significant that neither of those two inveterate colonial stirrers, William Charles Wentworth and John Dunmore Lang, is ever mentioned in the narrative, and that Dr Robert Wardell and Edward Smith Hall appear in a less than favourable light. For all his sharpness of vision Hugel was in some respects a prisoner of his class.




  Given all that, Hügel’s account is comprehensive and in the main accurate and conscientious. He brought to it years of experience as a diplomat rendering to his home government reports on the situation as he saw it in foreign postings. He brought to it a profound interest in the fate of human beings, and of their cultures. He not only closely observed the natural phenomena he encountered, he also felt an obligation to find a scientific explanation for each one of them—even for the plague of flies on the west coast of Australia! All too often he was impelled to reveal to the reader his inner disquiet and spiritual desolation and the recurring pain of the rejection that had sparked his wanderings on the face of the earth.




  In this translation these musings have been greatly abridged in an effort to reduce the unwieldy bulk of the text. So too have some of the scientific explanations. Unclear passages have been eliminated entirely, as has much material—however interesting—that can be found elsewhere. Passages irrelevant to Hügel’s own experiences and attitudes have been omitted, but not a single name of a person he encountered or a place he visited, not a single botanical reference has been deleted. Those who wish to read the whole work unabridged may consult the original manuscript and a complete working translation in the Mitchell Library of the State Library of New South Wales.




  How did Hügel judge Australia in private—out of public earshot? There are devastating passages in his letters to Baron Philipp von Neumann of the Austrian Embassy in London. On 22 June 1834 he wrote (in French):




  

    Society here is such as it inevitably must be in a colony established on principles so inimical to social life. Criminals, their newly-rich descendants (without exception vicious in character and consumed by an implacable hatred of the free settlers), Government officials who are both haughty and ignorant, and immigrants whose only thought is to amass riches with sordid avarice and frequently with great cruelty towards their assigned servants—a fortune which they are incapable of rightly enjoying—these are the elements making up the population and even Society in Sydney. The dinners and balls which are held quite frequently at this season are—I repeat—what they must inevitably be . . . I don’t like Sydney and travelling in the interior is not particularly interesting. I regard the time spent here as wasted . . . I have collected a number of curious and incredible anecdotes about the colony which I am saving for my friends in Europe and which I know for a certainty you with your knowledge of the English character will appreciate most particularly . . .


  




  Written when Hügel was still a ‘new arrival coming from India in a morbid, bilious frame of mind’, these comments may be partly explained by the last sentence. In other words, the criticism may have been tailored to flatter Neumann’s anti-English prejudices. However, that can hardly account for the entry on Carl von Hügel in Wurzbach’s Lexikon which simply states: ‘His stay there [in Australia] so disgusted him that he shipped in haste for Manila’.29




  Was Hügel’s stay in Australia really a waste of time? It is hard to reconcile this wholesale condemnation with many rhapsodic passages in Hiigel’s journal beginning with the rapturous first meeting with his ‘New Holland flowers’ growing in profusion in the sandy soil round the mouth of the Swan River, on that very first evening in the furthest continent: ‘I roamed round this world of colour as if intoxicated . . . For the first time in years—long, painful years—I lived for an hour in the full delight of the moment’.




  This was matched by his excitement on first entering the overpowering rain forest of Illawarra and his almost religious joy in the spring flowering of the bush on the crest of the old convict road overlooking the still waters of Wiseman’s Ferry in New South Wales. In time his deep affection for close colonial friends spilled over into appreciation of the country where, after the hectic exertions in the Indies in search of oblivion, ‘the climate of Australia and the gentle influence of kind and sympathetic people at last rendered these exertions unnecessary. I felt completely at home at Newington’.




  In retrospect, after his final departure, Hügel’s expressions of delight in Australia approached hyperbole. In September of 1835 he wrote (in English) from Simla to Jane Blaxland of Newington: ‘The time which I remained in New South Wales was the most pleasant of the five years of my travels and perhaps the happiest of my whole life . . .’ and from Delhi on 19 January 1836, in a letter accompanying a parcel of seeds from the Himalayas and Kashmir, he tells her: ‘I hope not to be disappointed in my hope to form once more in Austria a quiet member of society, but should I ever be induced to leave my own country again it would and could only be to become a settler in New South Wales. I look upon New South Wales as my second home—and of which only pleasant recollections remain—which is not the case with my real one . . .’ On his return to Vienna he wrote to her on 14 January 1837: ‘My family and acquaintances and the Emperor and Empress too received me with great distinction but notwithstanding all this I was happier in New South Wales’. Much later, when he was almost seventy, he wrote to James Macarthur from Brussels on 3 July 1864: ‘How much I should like to be enabled to accompany you to Australia and to see once more that beautiful country. But alas the days of travelling so far are gone by for me and although very happy in my own family with a charming wife and three children, sometimes my remembrance carries me back to the distant country in which I spent many happy days . . .’




  Let us simply accept that Carl Alexander Anselm von Hügel was a human being with a normal quota of human contradictions, and be thankful that he took the trouble to record on more than two thousand pages of manuscript what his sharp eye had seen and his troubled Old World heart had felt in the fledgling Australian colonies of a hundred and sixty years ago.
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    The title-page from the original manuscript
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Swan River





[Landfall in New Holland]




Naturally we were all on deck to greet New Holhnd. Not one of the officers had been at Swan River before. . . I had confidently looked forward to meadows of unmatched green, to trees and shrubs covered in flowers and fruit in the early southern summer, the entire country a picture of Nature untouched by Man.





{Wednesday 27th November 1833}




An arid, sandy island 20 miles from the mainland, forming an unbroken chain of hills: covered right to the top in yellow sea sand thrown up by the wind, with vegetation barely reaching the height of low shrubs—this was our first view, in bright sunshine, of Rottnest Island: a large island of 15 square miles, named by the Dutch explorer Peter Nuyts in the 17th century. Soon the sun disappeared again behind thick clouds blown up by a strong and rising wind. Grey, cheerless and inhospitable, this outpost of the new continent lay before us.




. . . Discovered by the enterprising Dutch at the height of their power, . . . this great continent was known only by name until, towards the end of the 18th century, Captain Cook’s voyage . . . made part of it better known— the east coast, which he named New South Wales. Here, in the sandy soil of the coastal region, which had so repelled the Dutch, the naturalists accompanying Captain Cook found a flora so rich and beautiful that they extolled the land as a marvel of fertility, where everything must flourish. So when the American War of Independence put an end to the penal settlements there, the British Government decided to convert this far-off land, so highly praised for its beauty and fertility, into a penal colony . . .
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HMS Alligator, c. 1834, pencil and watercolour by Lieutenant C. Clarke RN







. . . Byway of general introduction suffice it to note that France, jealous as always of England’s possessions, organized an expedition under Admiral D’Entrecasteaux [1791-93] which explored the south-western parts of New Holland. This expedition alerted England to the situation regarding New Holland. Capt. Flinders was therefore sent out by the British Admiralty (1803 & 1805) [1801] and charted the same coast carefully in the Investigator, France had barely enjoyed a few years of calm after the Restoration when a new expedition under Capt. Freycinet 182—[1818] visited southwest Australia, presumably, as the British correctly surmised, for the purpose of selecting the best place for a settlement.




But England could not tolerate the presence of a rival in this part of the world. There were two possible sites in this region, Swan River and King George Sound. The advantages of the one had been exaggerated; the other was in fact excellently suited to a settlement. Britain simply had to secure these at any cost, because of both their situation and the conformation of the coastline . . .




The western and northern shores of Rottnest Island are exposed to the full fury of the gales and to the enormous breakers which roll over the ocean, uninterrupted for thousands of miles, and crash on the island. The steep coastline here is formed by drifting sand piled up into mountainous dunes by the raging seas. The eastern shoreline of the island is rocky, and from here an almost unbroken line of coral reefs and sandbanks extends as far as the mainland. This is why the Swan River settlement holds such terrors for mariners.




Skimming over the high seas before the gale, the frigate rapidly drew nearer the coast, which soon emerged from the haze. The first building to come into view is the prison on the hill nearest the sea. Then we saw the grey, sparsely vegetated hills rising behind it, the small houses of the town of Fremantle with a few ships off-shore, and the sandy beach with the wrecks of two large ships. About three or four miles from the town, we eased the sails and fired shots for the pilot, whom we then saw rowing towards us.




Fremantle has three anchorages. The first, Gage’s Road [Gage Roads], is in front of the town and the closest to it, but is not safe although the ships were lying there. Owen’s Anchorage lies between two sandbanks and is perfectly safe in summer. The third anchorage is Cocqburn’s [Cockburn] Sound, 10 miles from Fremantle on the eastern side of Garden Island. This is the best and Capt. [George Robert] Lambert decided to sail into this as soon as the pilot came on board. But when he came aboard, it transpired that he is not authorised for this. A regular pilot has not yet been appointed by the Government, the reason being that, notwithstanding an apparently detailed chart, the extensive coastline has not yet been sufficiently explored.
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Fremantle, as shown in Panorama of the Swan River Settlement, watercolour by Jane Eliza Currie, 1830–32







Mr J. S. [John Septimus] Roe, the Surveyor-General, made a name for himself as a lieutenant of the Royal Navy by exploring the coast of New Holland, particularly the north coast, when he accompanied Capt. [Phillip Parker] King on his circumnavigation of the continent [1817-20]. He has in fact carried out fairly extensive explorations [here], but more important or rather more urgent business in the interior has taken up so much of his time that he has been unable to complete them. And so Swan River is still a place where, almost without exception, every Royal Navy ship that calls gives its name to some sandbank or reef on which it has run aground.




Instead of the regular pilot, Capt. [Daniel] Scott, the Harbourmaster, came and offered to bring Capt. Lambert into Gage Roads, which was all he was authorised to do, and for which we did not require his services. Mr Roe was not in Fremantle, the new town at the mouth of the Swan River, but in Perth, a settlement 9 miles away and the capital of [Western] Australia. Mr Tobie [Captain Jacob Toby], the master of the government schooner Ellen, could also have brought the frigate into the desired anchorage on his own, but he was at King George Sound on an official errand and so, against his will, Capt. Lambert had to decide in favour of casting anchor in Gage Roads for the time being . . . [Here follows navigational information.]




The chart actually showed a passage to the harbour past Mewstone, but it was presumably not quite accurate, for no one was prepared to risk finding the route through innumerable rocks, some of them exposed and others two or three fathoms under water. A ship in Gage Roads was therefore in a kind of blind alley from which it was impossible to escape in a strong westerly (NW).




The entrance into the third safe anchorage, accessible only from the south between Carnac Island and Garden Island (named Bonache [Buache] by the French) was also hemmed in by reefs except for a channel half a cable wide. This channel was marked by buoys and beacons for safety, but the violent gales had carried off some of these essential markers and displaced others, so that the entrance to Cockburn Sound was as good as blocked.




Capt. Scott assured Capt. Lambert that Gage Roads were absolutely safe in summer, and cited as proof the fact that the three ships lying there were not insured, but the two wrecks before our eyes testified more plainly than anything else against his protestations. However, for the time being, there was no choice but to cast anchor off F reman tie, which best suited me, as this anchorage was close to the town. So we steered towards the coast with a close following wind.




All in vain did the evening sun bathe the shore in its kindly rays. A most curious meteor glittered to no avail above the mountains ahead, and all in vain the features of the landscape came more and more clearly into view. The mournful coastline lay before us, graceless and gloomy, without form or colour. The above-mentioned meteor was a rainbow, but not at all arched, extending in a perfectly horizontal line from 12 to 15 degrees above the line of hills, its bands of colours repeated three times.




Naturally we were all on deck to greet New Holland. Not one of the officers had been at Swan River before, not even Lockyer, whose family lives in Sydney. He was stationed with his regiment in Madras, and was now on leave and visiting his parents. Cheated of their expectations, they all gazed in silence at the land towards which the frigate was speeding so majestically over the foaming billows. I myself was especially disappointed. Coming from the steamy skies of India, I expected to find here, at Lat. 32°, Syria’s cloudless skies, or at least the clear skies of Greece. I had confidently looked forward to meadows of unmatched green, to trees and shrubs covered in flowers and fruit in the early southern summer, the entire country a picture of Nature untouched by Man.




But how very different was the scene presented by this distant land, so frequently the object of my longings. There it lay before my searching gaze—totally lifeless, no other word would do. A shade of grey enveloped the shapeless line of mountains—scarcely higher than hills—beneath an overcast sky of the same hue. There were occasional trees on the hills, but even these seemed to be stretching their withered branches up to heaven as witnesses to the poor soil.




No sign of cultivation, not a single patch of green pasture was to be seen on the land rising behind the shore. Not a living soul was to be seen in the town built in the sand. Nothing moved but the foaming and menacing sea.




We had now reached the mouth of the Swan River, pounded by a dreadful surf of crashing waves. Capt. Scott broke the profound silence by asking whether Capt. Lambert had heard of the loss of the Lady Monsor [Munro], This ship had sailed from Madras a month before us, bound for Sydney. How disaster struck is not known. At all events, due to unpardonable negligence, the ship ran aground on a rock off the island of Amsterdam [37.5S, 77E] and sank in a few minutes. Of the 78 souls on board, mostly passengers, only 10 Lascars (Indian seamen) and one doctor were saved. These had been exposed for a fortnight on that desolate island, when a whaler found them there and brought them to Mauritius.1 Lockyer had a sister with six children in that ship. He was prevented from accompanying them because his leave came through too late. It may be imagined how this news affected him. But for my trip to Ceylon I should probably also have been on board that ship and would have found a watery grave in the waves off Amsterdam Island.




The most recent reports to reach India on the new colony had been so unfavourable that we were astounded to hear that there was a regular inn operating in Fremantle. Not knowing for certain how long we would be staying here, I packed up the necessaries for a few days and accepted Capt. Lambert’s offer to go ashore as soon as the ship was about a mile and a half from the town.




Fremantle is situated behind a small hill on which stands the prison. One side of the town is at the mouth of the Swan River, which flows into the sea round this hill; the other side lies on the shallow little bay at the end of Gage Roads. The distance between these two points is a couple of hundred yards and consists of deep white sand. Capt. Scott brought us to the side first mentioned. The outlet of the Swan River is wide, but a sandbank makes it accessible only to the very smallest boats and, when the wind blows from the sea, a dreadful surf makes the entrance dangerous. The word river-mouth or effluent is itself appropriate only during the rainy season, winter and spring, for in the summer and autumn months land and sea winds alternate daily, and the water of the river flows according to the wind direction. Actually, the river is salt for almost the whole of its navigable length.




A few of the residents, not exactly dressed in Sunday best, let alone in clean clothes, were standing on the bank fishing. Others—it being evening— were weaving their unsteady way through the sand, unmistakably under the influence of the spirits they had consumed. Despite the dirt, their faces all glowed with rude health, and the children splashing about in the water could certainly vie with any European street urchins. It was 6 o’clock on the evening of the 27th of November when my foot trod the soil of New Holland for the first time.




We walked a short distance through deep sand to STEEL’S HOTEL, as advertised in enormous letters on a neat single-storey building. Two parallel streets ran from the Swan River to the sea—or rather, a number of houses and huts—some of them very far apart—scattered along these lines bore witness to an intention to establish a regular town. We had scarcely entered Steel’s Hotel when several people came to call on us: Mr [George] Leake and I believe Mr Brown [Richard Broun]. But people held little interest for me. I could not wait to get out into Nature, into my kindred world of plants, especially the plants of this region, which had so often held my gaze when bowed down by deep sorrow; although to be sure, I expected to find but few familiar plants—in fact very few plants of any kind—in this dismal-seeming place.
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Pakenham Street, Fremantle, 1832, pencil drawing by Lieutenant George Dashwood







My servant had stayed on board the Alligator with my things and was to follow me next morning, for I feared that in the open boat everything I needed for my botanical excursions might be drenched by the high seas. And in my first few moments on this new continent, my thoughts were hardly on collecting and pressing specimens. I was impatient, so to speak, to greet any friends I might find, and to roam about in this unknown far-off land.




A few hundred paces from the township, the vegetation starts. One of the unique characteristics of the plants of New Holland is that the beautiful shapes and colours of the flowers reveal themselves to the observer only when he views them carefully at close quarters. So, too, the richness and variety of the flora in all its splendour do not strike the eye till you are close up. The cheerless grey-green changed to the most varied shades of green, from the lightest and brightest to lush dark hues, mingled with brilliant flowers of every kind, in untold numbers.




I am inclined to explain this peculiarity of the landscape of New Holland by comparing it with a painter’s palette, set with the most brilliant colours, which appear only as a blurred grey when all these paints are mixed together. The same may hold for all the countless different colours of the leaves and flowers here.




I roamed around this world of colour as if intoxicated. There were no new forms not known to me but it was quite late before I found a familiar species—Dryandra plumose,2 which grows prostrate here covering large patches of sand. I must confess that my foot was about to tread on the first one I saw, but at that moment I had such a compelling feeling of being in my own garden that I stepped right over it so as not to damage it. As I approached the hill, the native flora became more and more familiar: Hakea, Epacris,3 Eucalyptus, Acacia, Familiar species all, they gave me friendly greeting, and even Hugelia4 reached up to me in kinship with its lovely blue flowers. For the first time in years—long painful years—I lived for an hour in the full delight of the moment. In my left hand I held an enormous bunch of beautiful blooms while my right was gathering ever more new varieties.




The sun had set, and only the fact that I could no longer clearly distinguish the colours reminded me of where I was and that I must turn for home. I looked about me, but Fremantle had vanished from my sight. Unwittingly I had entered a small valley surrounded by low hills, which kept out the strong wind. Not one tiny leaf of the delicate [flora] stirred, not a single insect buzzed around the many blossoms, not a bird was twittering or winging its way through the air. Not a track, nor a hut nor a living soul was anywhere near. Perhaps no other foot had ever trodden this patch of earth. The silence was profound but not uncanny. The air was balmy, refreshing and invigorating, and filled with the delicate scents of the aromatic plants I brushed against as I walked. I felt not lonely, but very remote. When I looked at my flowers, such a variety of them and so beautiful, I realized that there was no one for me to bring them to. I let them drop from my hand and sadly climbed the nearest hill to find my way back.




A grand vista lay before me. Two miles from its mouth the Swan River forms a great basin called Rocky Bay, surrounded by tall cliffs. Barely a rifle-shot away is the open sea, crashing with redoubled force against the ocean face of the rocks while the cliffs on the other side are reflected on the still surface of the water. Further inland hill rises upon hill and in the distance along the horizon stretches a straight line of higher hills, veiled in the blue of distance—the Darling Hills [Darling Range].




Soon I was back in the hotel. Capt. Lambert had returned to his frigate. I ordered tea, but no sooner had this appeared as I lay stretched on the sofa, weary after my unaccustomed exercise, than Mr Leake came to invite me to take tea at his house. He also told me that a ship—a schooner—would be sailing the following morning for Madras. The timing of the invitation was less than convenient, especially as I had intended to do some writing, but I could not refuse.




Mr Leake’s house is the best in Fremantle. He lives there with his daughter, his brother [Luke] and his wife and their children as well as his seventy-year-old mother, who followed the two brothers to their new homeland. They were both wealthy bill brokers in London, but they speculated in funds themselves and lost the greater part of their fortune at one blow. One of the brothers, the husband of the young wife, lost everything and suffered a stroke as a result of the shock. His wife is a beautiful tall lady, but I did not find her expression pleasing. However, I felt at home in a drawing-room adorned with good copper engravings, and I found what Mr Leake had to tell about the colony most interesting, as he arrived as a settler on the first ship. I shall later have occasion to return to the unhappy beginnings of the settlement.




After returning to my lodgings I wrote my customary two letters, sent them off and retired to bed, very weary.




Thursday 28th November




Dawn was just breaking when I rose to resume my wanderings. But when I started to dress I was not a little astonished to see my feet and legs up to my knees as black as those of a native Indian. At first I thought I was suffering from some complaint peculiar to this country. On closer examination I found that it was neither more nor less than a black dust contained in the white sand, which owes its origin to the burning of the scrub by the Aborigines. These fires are caused either by the accidental spread of fires from the campsites of these wandering savages, or by the deliberate burning of a large tract of forest so as to force game (kangaroos and opossums) to flee the flames, and kill them as they escape.




This is naturally a very chancy mode of hunting and a most unreliable source of food. True, the Aborigines are very skilled at choosing their sites and positioning themselves in the direction of the wind, and even to the wary kangaroos their dark [shapes] are quite indistinguishable from the fire-blackened tree trunks. But notwithstanding the assertions of the British, their spears are such unreliable weapons that even in the most favourable conditions a whole forest of many square miles will yield barely a single meal for the band. If, on the other hand, the wind swings round, they will of course get nothing.




Originally I intended to give up keeping my diary here, and simply to write down the results of my stay at a particular place, so to speak. I thought that not much was likely to happen involving me personally, and that my presence would add but little interest to my account. For this reason I did not at first make daily entries. But later on I found that here, of all places, where the country itself holds so little interest, where no historical traditions attach to the soil and where both the natives and the immigrants are equally unfamiliar to us (that is to say, to the continent of Europe), my own experiences and observations might be of particular interest. I therefore, albeit somewhat late in the day, started keeping a regular diary once more.




Scarcely any information on the Aborigines has found its way to Europe, although in this respect England is once again an exception. Two Years in New South Walesby Dr Cunningham, [and] the journals of the missionaries Rev. Mr Tyerman and G. Bennet Esq. [Journal of Voyages and Travels] contain some information on these savages, but these works are of only local or one-sided interest. They contain comments on New South Wales only and will scarcely have found their way to the Continent. I therefore propose to speak in somewhat greater detail about these unfortunate people than I would otherwise have done.




When the settlers landed with their Governor, they found the Aborigines peaceably disposed. They were a band of apparently not more than 30 or 40 men and considerably fewer women. They were not led by a chief. In this respect and in most of their customs, they resembled the savages of New South Wales. However, two men, Jäger [Yagan] and Mijijerao [Midgigoroo], were especially active and excelled at throwing spears. Unfortunately these good relations did not last long. The whole of New Holland (although as yet only a small part of it is known, this view appears to be justified) seems to be inhabited by small bands to each of which is assigned a certain district—by our standards vast in proportion to its population. Here they subsist miserably by fishing and hunting, but principally on plant food. They can never leave this district. They are usually in a state of hostility with the neighbouring tribes and any individual who went hunting on alien territory would certainly pay for his rashness with his life.




The newly arrived English settlers knew nothing of these customs. Anglers took to the Swan River, which abounded in fish, and the Aborigine with his spear waited in vain for his catch. The great numbers of waterfowl, kangaroos, parrots and cockatoos were soon shot down by marksmen, thus destroying one of their sources of food.




It was unfortunate in more ways than one that the first settlers arrived in winter—an inexplicable blunder on the part of the Government—at a season in which the Aborigines are more than ever dependent on fishing and hunting. The colony itself was very short of food and could give nothing to the Aborigines, who therefore thought they had a perfect right to look for food in the hastily erected storehouse. This attack on the sole source of subsistence for so many families took place at night and the soldiers were ordered to fire on the attackers in order to deter them for ever from any future attempt of that kind.




One man was wounded in the head, all the others escaped. Mr [Dr Thomas] Harrison, the surgeon in Fremantle, told me that the man was brought to him apparently perfectly well and walking with a firm tread. When he examined his head he found a hole in the skull behind his ear so deep his finger could not reach the bottom. The man’s eyes were clear and [his vision] no more blurred than might be induced by a glass of spirits in an unaccustomed drinker. He continued in this condition for two days and only on the third did his mind become quite confused, or he felt his end was near. He uttered the most terrible screams, and waved his hands in a threatening manner, presumably urging his tribe to take vengeance. In this state he died.




The Aborigines had left Fremantle and for a time nothing was heard of them. The customs of this tribe require that, whenever a man or a woman is killed or dies, even a newly-born infant, the whole band sets out to spear a member of the neighbouring tribe. This law appears to be aimed at maintaining political equilibrium between their states and is to be found so generally among all the tribes of New Holland with which the British have made contact that the death of one old man on the Swan River may perhaps lead to the death of thousands over the whole continent, until the killing stops at the other coast.




This event in Fremantle marked the end of all friendly relations with the Aborigines. Mr [John Randell] Phillips, a settler fairly far inland on the Canning River (a tributary of the Swan River), worked very hard to improve his property in every way. He once sent two carts to another property belonging to him, accompanying them for some distance himself. His two carts were escorted by two Englishmen. Soon he heard screams and when he came to the spot, he found both men riddled with a large number of spears. He saw Yagan and Midgigoroo with the savages. He rode towards Yagan who was running off with all the others. At a distance of a few paces he drew his pistol from the holster and pulled the trigger, but in his haste he did not notice that the percussion cap had fallen off and not having another by him he had to beat a retreat. It was soon agreed that these two men had committed the murder. Detachments of troops were sent out to capture them. Midgigoroo fell into their hands and was shot in Perth and a price of 50 guineas was placed on Yagan’s head. I will discuss his end elsewhere.




It was impossible for settlers in remote localities to keep up hostilities against the Aborigines, especially as it appears that a number of bands joined forces on this occasion. At least Mr Phillips told me that he once saw three hundred Aborigines together in one place. They therefore sought to conciliate them by distributing flour, when they had any themselves. To some extent this had the desired effect, but the disadvantage was that it was a considerable imposition on the smaller farms and even the larger properties still did not escape depredations. For instance, Mr [Henry] Bull, the settler at the furthest reach of the Swan River, lost a flock of 70 sheep. This attack, however, had grave consequences for the savages. A detachment of troops pursued them as they carried off their booty. They finally drove them into a valley surrounded by cliffs and fired at them at will until they cried out for mercy.




Although it was an easy matter to pursue the Aborigines as they could not leave their own territory, there was nothing to be gained by such hostilities, unless the whole tribe was exterminated. For they could not escape, nor could they remain peacefully in the one spot, where hunger stared them in the face once the few sources of food had been exhausted. So, after the two outlaws had been killed and about 15 Europeans had been speared, the Government finally did what they would have been better advised to do at the outset; they organized a daily distribution of grain to those savages who might come to Perth for the purpose and also at various other places. Not only wisdom and humanity required that this be done, but justice itself. This has recently brought about friendly relations with the Aborigines, but not one of them shows his face in Fremantle, where no grain is distributed. And this must suffice on this subject for the present.




I roamed the countryside till nine o’clock, finding ever more new plant species. The sun was scorching and the wind extremely unpleasant, blowing the sand into my face with such force that my mouth and eyes hurt. Capt. Lambert had announced that he would come for breakfast, so I returned to the inn at 9 o’clock. I spent just enough time there to savour the pleasure, long missed, of coffee with cream, fresh bread and butter. Then I made my way once more into the scrub, fully equipped with all the apparatus of a botanist and naturalist. So as to be able to take everything I needed, I had engaged a man who was also able to serve me as guide, so that I could find my way back as soon as I wanted. I now set off in the direction of the hills and by evening I had covered a considerable distance in the direction of the Canning River without actually reaching it. I found many a beautiful spot and as great a diversity of plants as I could have wished. Under a clump of Banksia speciosa5 I partook of a piece of very ordinary cheese I had brought with me and a glass of brandy and then continued on my way till evening, and finally arrived back at the Swan River from another direction, very weary from wading through deep sand and clambering over sharp limestone rocks.




This limestone takes a most extraordinary form. On the rises the limestone assumes the shapes of the living trees so distinctly up to a height of 8 to 10 feet that I conceived the theory that it might actually have been formed by the vegetation. Why should plants, in certain circumstances, not have the same capacity as the lowest forms of animal life to transform water, particularly seawater, into a substance similar to limestone? [Banksia] and Eucalyptus tree trunks are so clearly recognizable in these shapes that there can be scarcely any doubt that this is how they originated, particularly [as] in places where the sea has eaten into the land, and at many spots on the bank of the Swan River, these tree trunks may be distinctly seen rising from the similarly petrified roots.6




About three miles from Fremantle, on the Swan River, I came to the house belonging to the man who conducts the ferry at that spot. This is on the main road from Fremantle to the capital, but carts have churned up the sand here more deeply than anywhere else and walking is hard work. Another mile closer to Fremantle there is a burnt-out house and a grave nearby under a eucalyptus tree. One night recently a fire driven by a strong wind set the house alight. The only occupant was a girl of 16 years. The owner was in Fremantle and the unfortunate girl was taken by surprise as she slept, and did not manage to escape.




Capt. Lambert and I dined quietly in the inn and then paid a visit to Mr Broun, where we found Mr Roe and Mr [Thomas Newte] Yule. The former is the Surveyor-General, and the latter an officer of the East India Company who has settled here and who invited me to visit him on his property on the Upper Swan, which I shall certainly do.




Friday 29th November




Yesterday’s excursion had so greatly fatigued me that I resolved to stay quietly at home today and arrange my treasures, but after breakfast I could no longer bear to stay within four walls. Mr Harrison, the Assistant Surgeon of the settlement, paid me a call and I suggested that he take a walk with me to the other side of the Swan River. Some of the plants I found here were new, but the plague of flies was even worse here than on the other bank—Moses could have visited them on Pharaoh with the greatest success. I saw here two kangaroos as big as hares, called wallabies by the Aborigines [presumably ‘quokkas’ or ‘tamars’]. The name kangaroo is not known to the Aborigines [here].




I was astounded by the huge fruit of a Zamia. They grow fairly close together here and several had more than one spike of fruit each weighing between 40 and 50 pounds. This Zamia never occurs as a tree, although I found several with stems three or four feet high and almost as thick in diameter. On the other shore of Rocky Bay opposite the ferry, I found large Callitris trees growing on jagged rocks. Today we dined with Mr Leake. After dinner Mrs Leake played on the pianoforte and then we played a game of whist. I mention this to show some thought was also given to entertainment in the new colony.




Saturday 30th November




Capt. Lambert knew no rest till he had his ship in a safe place, and so he asked Mr Roe to bring the Alligatorpast Mewstone into Owen’s Anchorage, for even he would not risk bringing the frigate into Cockburn Sound without testing the signals. This move, although of interest to navigators because the channel was narrow and so little known, did not excite my curiosity. I had not yet exhausted the possibilities of the flora around Fremantle and therefore set out on another excursion in a different direction.




Capt. Lambert’s instructions obliged him to render the colony any service within his power. For the survival of the colony the most important service was undoubtedly to make it possible to show ships a safe route to their anchorage. He resolved to do this, and the time required to achieve this gave me an opportunity which I proposed to make use of to examine the flora of the colony more fully than had previously been done.




The Swan River settlement has a right to complain of the way in which it has been treated by the mother country. The Government induced several hundred individuals, along with their wives and children, to leave their homeland without in fact doing the slightest thing for them except for assigning land to them after their arrival in proportion to the livestock or agricultural implements and tools they had brought with them. The following scale was applied: one acre of land was granted for every 18 pence worth of value. The settler kept everything he had brought with him to establish his farm, but was not permitted to sell either livestock or implements for the first three years. In addition to these land grants, free land grants were also made to the government officials with the stipulation that they were to spend a certain sum (£100 I believe for every square mile) on improvements within the first three years.




These arrangements would have been appropriate if the Government had at the same time either itself done something to supply the people landed on Western Australian soil with food, until some could be produced, or had induced ships to do this on their own account. Perhaps the Government intended to do the former. It sent to the infant colony the frigate Sulphur commanded by a certain Post-Captain [William Townsend] Dance, bringing all kinds of tradesmen. But the manner in which the Government executed this fine plan betrayed equal ignorance of the conditions and of the individuals appointed to carry it out. Instead of sending a ship of this class under a commander equal in rank to the Governor, Captain [James] Stirling, with an independent command to assist the colony at his own discretion, a smaller ship under a master and under the orders of Captain Stirling would have spared the colony a period of severe trials. Instead of having his tradesmen build first huts and then houses for the new settlers on the shore until they could find places inland where they could cultivate crops, and later on permitting and instructing his men to work for the new settlers; and instead of employing his officers to explore the coastal waters in every direction from Fremantle so as to enable merchant ships to come here, Capt. Dance employed his men in building a good house and establishing a garden for himself. He watched the trading vessels run aground in Gage Roads without taking any steps towards finding another anchorage.




The descriptions of the magnificent country, of the majestic river and of the meadows reaching right down to the seashore, attracted the most heterogeneous population imaginable to the Swan River. Not only did industrious and enterprising young men marry and come out to get rich in a country where roast pigeons sat waiting on the branches of the trees; insolvents with nothing to lose also came, in hopes of making Fortune smile on them in a new land. Officers of the Guards too, and captains, with families used to living in luxury on the fat of the land, sold their commissions. Wealthy men sold up their assets to qualify in Western Australia for a land grant the size of a whole county.




A goodly number of the colonists from London itself had never been beyond the city bounds before they boarded the ship. Some individuals had been so deluded by their powerful imagination that one settler (Mr [Thomas] Peel, a relative of Sir Robert’s) arrived claiming 220 000 [250 000] acres (335 square [miles]!) by virtue of the goods and personnel he had brought with him. Others came with carriages of all sorts, pianos and harps and sumptuous wardrobes from the most exclusive fashion houses for their growing daughters. From the descriptions, most of them believed they would find open country and that, after buying one or two horses, they would drive about until they had found the best of the good locations.




When they finally drew near the storm-lashed coast, the gloomy landscape can hardly have appealed more to them than it did to me. Then they cast anchor. The ship’s captain landed all the cargo that same day, and the settlers themselves went ashore [on 8 June 1829], while the ship departed the dangerous coast in haste. All their belongings, both luxuries and necessities, lay strewn on the sandy shore. Having spent the first night without shelter—men, women and children—the settlers saw spread before their eyes a sandy desert overgrown with dense shrubs. Then came cold, wind and rain. The courage of most of the new arrivals sank and instead of working, most of them lay weeping on the seashore, anticipating the ruin of their possessions as well as of their hopes.




Inevitably acute shortages soon appeared. Many a delicate hand, accustomed only to strum the strings of a harp or the keys of a pianoforte, had to take to the prosaic task of kneading bread, while husbands roamed far and wide to shoot a cockatoo or a kangaroo, subsisting on these so as not to squander their slender store of money on the exorbitant prices charged for provisions before they could start farming.
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View at Swan River, 1830, coloured lithograph by Mary Ann Friend







Instead of sailing his ship to Hobart Town and taking on cheap provisions there for the colony, Capt. and Mrs Dance led a most contented existence on Garden Island, living on the provisions they had brought with them. When at last repeated representations regarding the settlers’ privations and the necessity of bringing provisions from Van Diemen’s Land could no longer be ignored, the Sulphur stayed away for seven months. The whole colony would have died of starvation had not a ship with provisions appeared from another quarter. At that time the price of meat was two shillings per pound, the price in Sydney being a penny farthing. The price of a loaf of bread was eighteen pence. Most of those settlers who brought servants with them were ruined during this period.




Around midday my route took me to the top of a high hill and I saw the frigate sail between Mewstone and the rocks. One feature of the fine weather in summer in Western Australia is that land and sea winds alternate. The land wind usually starts up at or just after sunrise and quickly rises to a gale. At about two or three o’clock, after a brief calm, the sea wind springs up and soon becomes so strong that hardly a boat will dare put to sea. Today the wind changed earlier than usual and the Alligator was obliged to tack through a narrow, shallow channel with scarcely enough draught for it. At one point it actually grazed the bottom and the rudder churned up the sand for a long time. At long last it anchored in Owen’s Anchorage and Capt. Lambert and Mr Roe came ashore.




Sunday 1st December




So as not to lose a single day, we sailed in the captain’s gig to Perth today. Mr Roe accompanied us and undertook to bring us safely to the capital through the many shoals and rocks of the Swan River, an enterprise which in the early days cost many an unwary Englishman his life. For the wind bears down so hard at many spots in the interconnected lakes, that it is only with particular care that the boat can be prevented from capsizing.




It was half-past two when the sea breeze finally started up and, sailing with the wind, we set out on our voyage. The many shoals over the first mile upstream—or rather in this direction, for there is no current—make progress difficult even for a boat with only eighteen inches draught, for it touches bottom at every instant.




Further on the water is deep and the largest man-of-war could tack about in Rocky Bay. Here the scenery is prettier, due to the tall trees on the rocky shore, but most forbidding and uninviting as a site for a settlement.




Then comes a second larger sheet of water, in which a sandbank more than a mile long necessitates a huge detour. At the spot where this sandbank joins the mainland there is a house, ‘Point Walter’. It stands alone and is a landmark on its well-chosen site. From here the river widens to a regular lake [Melville Water], which might be called beautiful if its banks were not so low in relation to its area, particularly to the south-east. Mount Eliza on the one side and a headland on the other separate this lake from Lake Perth [Perth Water], on which the capital of the colony is situated.




At its widest point this lake is three miles wide, but this large basin is so full of sand in most places that access to the settlement is quite difficult. This is situated on a hill rising from the shore. About a hundred houses and huts, sometimes a long way apart, are ranged in rows and a broad thoroughfare has been left between them. Two or three of the houses are built of stone. The Governor’s house is a dilapidated wooden building. We walked past this to sit down for a while in Mr Roe’s house until we could find lodgings. Our hospitable host would have liked us to stay with him, but his house, although the best in Perth, is too small to accommodate three guests. Mrs Roe is an exceedingly pleasant and intelligent woman, admirably cut out to render exile in a place like this less painful, and ably assisted in this by three handsome children bursting with health.
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Charles von Hügel at Swan River, November-December 1833







We called on the Lieutenant Governor [Captain Richard Daniel(l)], a Captain of the 21st Regiment. (The Governor himself, Captain Stirling, had not yet returned from England.) We found him in a house roughly 15 feet long and 7 feet wide. A curtain separated the bedroom from the sitting-room. He was sitting in front of a small barrel and his hand was just turning the tap to fill a glass with its contents. We introduced ourselves and he replied, raising his full glass: ‘Won’t you take a glass of ginger beer?’ Even without being a qualified physiognomist, it was not difficult to conclude, from his shiny red nose and ditto cheeks, that Captain Daniel himself fully appreciated the charms of this and other spirituous beverages. We found accommodation: two rooms—that is the whole house—in the inn belonging to Mr [George Bell] Hodges.




The sand in Fremantle with its black admixture had been bad enough; here it was absolutely intolerable, and so was the heat. Although we had been only two hours in the capital, we had already had these three unpleasant experiences, and our walk to dinner with Mr Roe, barely a couple of hundred paces away, was exceedingly unpleasant. Once night fell there was not a breath of air and then the heat would have done credit to Bellary or Mysore. Thousands of mosquitoes now came to suck our blood. It was rather late when we returned to our lodgings, very weary.




Monday 2nd December




I set out early to walk in the direction of Mount Eliza but did not make much headway as there was so much that was beautiful and new to me. As the sun rose higher the heat was troublesome and the innumerable flies became quite unbearable. One small species in particular always headed straight for my eyes. One very special type is called sandflies by the English. Their bite gives rise to a big swelling, although it is imperceptible at first. One of these stung me on the eyelid and it was several days before I could open my eye.




Particularly fine specimens of Banksia grow round Perth. I found five different species, the most beautiful of which is undoubtedly speciosa. The English assume that this tree indicates poor soil. They grow in the deepest sand, but round Perth they are mixed with huge eucalyptus trees which usually require a deep soil.




There were a large number of Aborigines walking through Perth to collect their daily ration at a particular spot near Mount Eliza. The first one I saw was a hideous specimen and appeared to justify the assumption that there really is something missing in their mental make-up. I saw several others later and that first impression was erased. The men go completely naked. Only a string made of opossum hair, of the thickness of ordinary string, is wound 20 or thirty times round their hips, forming a rope as thick as a finger. Many of them have a kangaroo skin hanging from their shoulders, but purely as a decoration, like the bunches of feathers stuck in their thick, matted black hair. Many of them have a 6-inch kangaroo bone stuck through the septum of their nose, others have their head and hair painted with a kind of cinnabar.




The women wear scarcely more clothing than the men. They all have a kangaroo skin which covers them in front from breast to thigh, and a second skin on their backs forms a sack in which they lug food or their husband’s tools or a child or a young dog. However, this costume owes nothing at all to any sense of modesty, for as soon as they arrive at their camp, they immediately discard every item of clothing. I saw several young girls who could be called neither ugly nor stupid-looking. But as soon as a female reaches the age of twenty, she becomes ugly and the old women of this race of savages attain a degree of hideousness not to be found elsewhere in the whole of Creation.




The men never walk abroad without their spears, the women never without carrying some fire, for fire-making is a long and arduous task for them. These poor unhappy creatures inspired profound pity in me. Everyone who does not either provoke or insult them will find them gentle and inoffensive, and although they then turn into veritable brutes, it is easy to forestall such outbursts. They greet all Europeans in a most friendly manner and are far less mistrustful than I had expected.




By chance I walked past one of their camps. At night, each of them has nothing but a kind of screen set up against the wind, and quite skilfully made of interwoven twigs and bark. I was anxious to see how accomplished they might be in the art of spear-throwing, and invited them to show me their skills. They all understood some English. They were quite ready to do so on the spot and a tree at 80 paces was selected as the target. Their spears are 8–10 feet long and as thick as a thumb. They are made of peeled shoots of Melal[euca] armillaris7 simply sharpened at one end and slightly hollowed out at the thick end. These spears are never straight. To throw them they use a strangely shaped wooden implement with a curved projection at one end into which the hollowed-out end of the spear fits.
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The wooden implement is held in the palm of the hand, the spear is held by the thumb and the first two fingers and the end fitted into the tool’s projection. The marksman now begins to take aim by vibrating the spear and then hurls it with the help of the implement. The first spear missed the target but it flew 60 paces on to a stone with such force that it shattered into fragments. They had no better luck with their succeeding attempts. When I wanted to give the group something, I found I had no money by me. I promised them something another day, but then returned and took them with me to my lodgings and gave them some bread.









This is all these poor creatures ask for; they take no thought for the future. They consume all the food they possess in one meal and throw away the scraps. In the same way, they seldom camp in the same place twice. They never express thanks for a gift, for it never occurs to them to give away anything of use to them, and so they think that anything a European gives them must be something he has no need of. They are in general fond of their children, but dogs rate just as highly in their affection and it is not uncommon to see a female suckling both a child and a pup with her own milk.




They have no conception of marriage. An unusually strong man has three or four wives, while a weak man cannot manage to acquire even one. Quite obviously, under these arrangements the wishes of the women are never consulted. However, marital fidelity is not so strictly enforced either. If a man discovers that his wife has been unfaithful, he has the right to spear her in the legs, or rather, this is the custom. If a man from another group is caught in such a relationship, the whole band sets out and spears him in the legs as well.




Tattooing is unknown among the New Hollanders. Many of them have identical scars on both arms (but without any design), which is an approximation to it.




The normal diet of these people—whose whole existence is one life-long famine, with few interruptions—consists of vegetable products: the blossoms of [Banksia?] from which they suck nectar, the fruits of a variety of Mesem-bryanthemum,8 and the stem of a Dioscorrhoea, also a caterpillar or rather a wood-grub, as well as any animals on which they can lay their hands. These they roast on a spit. They have a strange aversion to any meat that is not absolutely fresh.




We went to Mr Roe’s for breakfast. From here I set off once again, walking along Perth Water in a different direction, but again the heat and the flies were so unbearable that I did not get very far. Captain Daniel had invited us to dinner, for which we made our appearance at 6 o’clock at our own inn, and in fact had to vacate our larger room.




All the notables were present: the clergyman, Mr [John Burdett] Wittenoom, who is also a Member of Council, the Police Magistrate Mr [J.] Morgan and the officers of the two Companies stationed here. The only absentee was the Colonial Secretary, Mr Brown [Peter Nicholas Broun], who was unwell. A company of 80 men constitutes the entire military strength responsible for protecting the colony from attacks by the Aborigines. This company is a detachment of the regiment in Van Diemen’s Land. One company has just been relieved and that is why there are at present two companies here. Whenever possible, the British infantry regiments destined for India begin their tour of duty in Australia, i.e. every regiment serving in the latter country is sent to India before returning home.




After partaking considerably of food and copiously of drink, I returned to my room and soon fell asleep to the sound of noisy toasts and Hip Hip Hip Hurrah.




Tuesday 3rd December




Today we set out on a journey to the source of the Swan River. We began the journey on foot. For where the actual river ends in Perth Water—one cannot say flows into, as there is no flow—there is a sandbank a mile long, and in the dry season even the smallest boat has to be towed across it. This was, of course, the case with the Captain’s gig and so we walked about two miles to the spot where the river again becomes navigable. Mr Roe offered to accompany us, which pleased us both greatly for he not only has an excellent knowledge of the country and the people but is a most pleasant companion.




About 4 miles from Perth, the Swan River or rather the rivulet forms a near-island called York Peninsula. This is where cultivation starts and there is good deep soil almost everywhere along both banks of the rivulet to a width of about 150 or 200 paces. The first settler we called on was Mr [James] Drummond, a gardener who was appointed botanical gardener here. He has a farm here, where poultry, sheep and potatoes all flourish exceedingly well, but the prices are still very high. Seven shillings is the normal price for a fowl, 3 eggs for one shilling, 4 pounds of potatoes for one shilling, 18 pence for a pound of beef, 16 pence for a pound of mutton— these are really high prices. Mr Drummond had made a good collection of seeds, insects and birds, but a few days ago a fire swept through his house and destroyed everything. I was just as sad about this for the man’s sake as for my own. I commissioned him to collect seeds for me, from which I would select what I had not found myself. I gave him ten days time, the probable duration of our stay.




I was anxious to explore the district a little and so I let Capt. Lambert and Mr Roe proceed by boat and covered the distance of 20 miles to Mr Broun’s property ‘Bassendun’ [Bassendean] on foot. On the way I found many plants and saw several settlers’ farms, some of them with rather pretty houses although built only of wood. But almost all of them were built very imprudently close to the forest, or as they say here the bushes (the thickets), so that I was not surprised to hear endless stories of burnt-out houses. One of the settlers went to Perth with his bride, whom he had written for to England. The marriage was duly solemnized there by Mr Wettingham [Wittenoom]. When he returned home in the evening, instead of his house, he found only a heap of ashes and was obliged to spend the wedding night with his young wife under the stars. This same canopy served all the settlers without exception and all the inhabitants of the new township for some time, and surely the best possible recommendation for the climate is the fact that no one fell ill as a result.




I was accustomed to the heat of India, but nowhere there did I find heat as oppressive as on this walk. Admittedly, this may have been largely due to the breakfast we took in the boat before I set out. I intended to drink a glass of brandy and water, but Captain Lambert mixed up the bottles and gave me brandy and gin. Being exceedingly thirsty, it was only after I had swallowed a few mouthfuls that I noticed the mistake. But even in normal circumstances, cut off from the slightest breeze, walking over that black soil must always be unpleasant at these latitudes when both the sun and the summer are at their zenith.




Bassendean lies on the right bank of the Swan River. The proprietor, Mr Broun the Colonial Secretary, received us in spite of his indisposition. Mrs Broun is by far the most beautiful woman in the colony, but her features wore an expression of such sorrow that one could only feel profound sympathy with her. The reason for this was no secret.




Captain Stirling believed—and rightly so—that the only way to stimulate progress in the colony was to establish a bank and paper currency, obviating the necessity for the settlers to engage in barter trade, which is so detrimental to commerce. Landowners were to have at their disposal in this bank a sum of money in proportion to their holdings, which would allow them to use their own money to advantage. As I remarked above, the early period was very difficult for well-to-do settlers, in fact for all those who did not work for wages, and it was only in this way that many a family was saved from ruin. This measure was not approved in England and Captain Stirling was ordered to discontinue operating the bank as a government enterprise and to hand it over to the most reputable man prepared to take it on. Mr Broun took it over.




There was, however, a catch, which was not immediately obvious. A large amount of cash—more than £500 000 sterling—was brought into the young colony, but very little was retained there. Payments for food supplies and breeding stock and all the necessities which were brought in by ships (which were unable to take on any kind of goods in return) meant that money gradually became scarce. Every banknote which was spent and finished up in the hands of a ship’s captain was lodged by him at the bank to be cashed. As long as there was enough money in the colony, they had no difficulty in obtaining cash for the banknotes, but a short time ago the bank, under Mr Broun’s management, was unable to cash a note, whereupon all the banknotes were presented all at once to be cashed. The consequences may well be imagined. Mr Broun is liable for the sum, which I believe amounts to £5000, and, in order to satisfy the claims, he is obliged to sell nearly all or perhaps all he possesses.




In the afternoon we resumed our journey. From here to Guildford, an established township, the whole route runs through well-cultivated country. In many places it has not been cleared, but the country is open, bare of scrub or forest. There is a majestic Eucalyptus tree every 100 or 200 yards and the rest is covered with low vegetation—I cannot really call it grass. Where cultivation has been started in earnest, magnificent crops are standing in full ear.




Night had almost fallen when we arrived at Mr Yule’s place, unexpected but not unwelcome. This kind and open-hearted man, with typically Indian hospitality, could not do enough for his guests. He managed to make the whole party—a large number for his little house—very comfortable. He is a vigorous young man who won my admiration. Barely a year ago he arrived here from a country where indolence is almost an indispensable attribute for a man of quality, yet his small farm appears to be flourishing. His crops look better than those of any of his neighbours, his household is tidier and cleaner, yet he has not become a rough peasant, nor does his conversation revolve around home-brewed beer, cheese, sheep and pigs. We were all equally taken with Mr Yule.




I have forgotten to mention an incident which we witnessed near Guildford, as we were sailing past a patch of cultivated land not far from that settlement. A number of Aborigines were gathered here, all armed with spears, and brandishing them at each other. Their women were at a safe distance behind the two parties and appeared very wretched. Several settlers and their wives were talking with the savages, which led us to assume that it would not come to a real fight. Several of the Aboriginal men came to the bank and indicated by signs that they wished to be brought to the other side of the river. However, as it was late and we feared we might be overtaken by darkness, making it difficult to find Yule’s house, we continued on our way.




Wednesday 4th December




Just as day was dawning I began to roam round the neighbourhood, which was rich in plants hitherto unknown to me. The vegetation here is completely different from that round Fremantle and Perth. Scarcely a single plant species, with the exception of a few species of Eucalyptus, occurs both here and there. Dryandras, Hakkun [hakeas], and especially Isopogon and Conospermum grow here, with leaves of fantastic shapes. Here and there a Pimelia and new kinds of Papilionaceae gleam forth with their beautiful flowers, usually blue or violet in colour. Synglaisisten [Syngenesia] occur only in their higher forms, that is as Gnaphalium and Helichrysum.9 Species of Myrtaceae such as MeUleuca occur mixed with Leptospermum on the Swan River and in swamps, but never either in dry sand or in deep soil, except for one particular species of Leptospermumwith especially large seeds, always in pairs. This probably constitutes a separate genus; at all events the name Leptospermum is not applicable. A magnificent Calythris, new to me, occurs sporadically because the seed is too susceptible to wind action to allow it to collect in one spot.




After breakfast we went on our way again. In many places the rivulet was covered in ducks and divers and provided good hunting. Then there was a gallinaceous bird,10 new to me, which appeared here this year for the first time, but in such numbers that they have turned into a veritable plague for the settlers, destroying their crops.




While Capt. Lambert went hunting, I went with Mr Roe to visit Mr [Edward Pomeroy Barrett] Lennard’s property. He is the son of a rich man in England11 and started his farm here three years ago. The fields, the barn and everything pertaining thereto are in excellent condition, for which he has laid out £5000. One of the Government regulations operates to the advantage of agriculture: this lays it down that this year, for every acre under cultivation three bushels are to be purchased on the Government’s account at £2 per bushel.




This is of great benefit to the settlers. Since, unlike Van Diemen’s Land and New South Wales, there are no convicts, they have to pay their servants very high wages. In addition to board and lodging and spirits or beer, farmers have to give their farm labourers £25 to £30 sterling. In fact I know of cases where a man and his wife received £50. Honourable settlers pay this sum in full. Less scrupulous employers manage to reduce these wages a great deal by forcing their employees to obtain everything they need from them, and then charge 15 to 20 per cent or even 50 per cent more for everything than everybody else.




The only thing standing between the English and their rapid progress towards world domination is the fascination alcoholic beverages hold for them. This is where the high wages of their lower classes go, without exception, and this is where the larger portion of the high salaries (high in comparison with the Continent) of their upper classes go. This has one advantage, however: it makes them uniquely capable of enduring long expeditions, where every man is on his own. A bottle of brandy12 or a bottle of claret compensate an Englishman for the absence of all the other joys of life. He can spend years, half his life in fact working in isolation to achieve his goal, without feeling the need of any other relaxation. But, among the lower orders, brandy is the supreme and ultimate object in life, and consumption of the same over and above the daily ration from the master’s cellar, at his prices, reduces the annual wage to half, often a third.




I visited Mr Lennard’s house but he was not at home. Mr Roe greeted as Mrs Waddington an ugly woman whose get-up—to use an expressive vernacular phrase—did not indicate any great love of either neatness or cleanliness. One of her feet was bare and demonstrated clearly that, even in this country where the soil blackens everything, she agreed with the King of Spain who maintained that the washing of feet was a senseless procedure for which he could find no rational explanation. Her other foot wore a stocking but no shoe. Her toilet, and especially her hair, were consonant with that of Pudestas [Pudicitia?].13 In her arms this apparition was carrying a dirty, screaming infant. I was thirsty from the well-nigh unbearable heat and Mr Roe requested a glass of water for me. While we waited for it we entered the room, where the dirt and disorder were such as I had never seen before. When at last the water came, it was in such a dirty tin mug that I could not put it to my lips.




I relate this incident to show with what lack of delicacy the English often conduct themselves. Mr Lennard is awaiting his bride, selected for him by his family in England. His father is a Member of Parliament. Captain Stirling, who is awaited hourly, is to bring her out with him.14 She is presumably a young lady brought up in every luxury and comfort. What will be the feelings of this unfortunate young woman on entering her new home, particularly when she discovers that she is destined to replace Mrs Waddington in every respect?




I saw here a bird which I had seen before in India and Europe, namely the large-eyed bustard [grossaugiger Bastard].




We had hardly gone a mile in the boat when a considerable number of waterhens once more made Capt. Lambert step ashore. At this point the Swan River is narrowed by fallen Eucalyptus trees, whose almost indestructible timber resists decay in the water for perhaps a hundred years.15 One of these tree trunks was selected as our landing-stage. I followed the others with my book and my bag for collecting plants. But before I could gather up these things, the boat had drifted some distance from the tree trunk, though not too far to jump on to it. This I did, but a dry branch which I had grabbed to keep my balance as I leapt snapped at the very same moment as my feet slipped, and so I fell. First my shin struck the trunk and then, with a somersault, I went head first into the Swan River. My hands became entangled in the straps of my book and bag. As I fell I said to myself: ‘Here goes for a drink of Swan River water!’ I took a deep breath. It took perhaps a minute before I could turn over, use my hands and rise to the surface.




Meanwhile Mr Roe and the sailors, in fear and trembling, were at a loss as to how to assist me. Dripping wet I stepped ashore and burst into laughter, and they all followed suit. Mr Roe suggested that we should make our way as quickly as possible to Mr Bull’s property and borrow clothes and underlinen from him. As we planned to return to Mr Yule’s for dinner, I had left all my effects there. But I had no wish to present myself in this state and, as the sun was scorching hot, I decided to wring out all my clothes and lay them in the sun, wrapping my coat round me in the meantime.




However, this took longer than I expected, and so once more I availed myself of the stray chance that had given me a cooling bath, and took another—voluntarily—in the river. Even here the river water is not entirely fresh, but it tastes aromatic from the leaves that have dropped into it from the various Myrtaceae growing on its banks. It is reddish in colour and rather turbid so that you can never see to the bottom. On the whole it is an ugly little river, surrounded by trees and shrubs like a pool of stagnant water. The banks are most extraordinary, often changing within a mile. But the further upstream you go, the more open the country. From the Upper Swan you can travel in any direction on firm ground in a cart. This kind of country is also said to predominate around York on the other side of the Darling Range, but there it is occasionally interspersed with swamps into which the rivulets empty.




When I and my clothes—all but my jacket—had dried out, we continued on our way. My watch was also full of water and had stopped, but after the water had drained out and I had held it open in the extremely dry atmosphere for a while, it began to go again.




By far the best situated property is the one jointly owned by Mr Leake and Mr Bull. It occupies that stretch of land where the Swan River ceases to be navigable and virtually ceases to be even a rivulet. When more of the interior has been brought under cultivation and the river has been cleared, this must one day become the site of an important settlement. Mr Bull was a lieutenant in the Royal Navy. He married here recently and is actively engaged in running his new farm, which is extensive and well kept. Being in one of the remotest spots, he comes into closer contact with the Aborigines than other settlers, and it was here that the two outlaws [Yagan and Midgigoroo] had taken up their headquarters.
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Swan River 50 miles up, 1827, coloured aquatint by J. Huggins after E. Duncan







One circumstance which clearly demonstrates the good nature of these poor people is the fact that, even during the time when they lived in a state of hostility with the English, they did nothing to injure those who had been kind to them. It would have been easy for them to burn down all the Englishmen’s houses—built only of wood and roofed with straw or bark— and likewise to set fire to all their ripe crops. But up to the present they have not done this anywhere, and all the misfortunes of this kind that have occurred can be blamed on the imprudence of the English themselves.




Mr Bull gave us home-brewed beer and home-made cheese. The former was drinkable and the latter good. After we had sampled these, I was anxious to take a walk in the direction of the nearby Darling Range and the source of the Swan River. The whole party, apart from the women, took the same track. We then visited the property [‘Belvoir’] of a Mr [William] Shaw, a stud-farm of Mr Broun’s and, finally, after walking over a few hills we returned. The beds of the brooks which form the Swan River are dry and it is only in low-lying spots that there is still some stagnant water. Here I found several very fine plants including a magnificent Hibiscus16 with large blue flowers.




One mile from Mr Bull’s house we came to Yagan’s grave. It is bare of any ornament except for a spear stuck in the ground on the right-hand side. The tempting reward of £50 induced two brothers in Mr Bull’s employ to kill this outlaw. The older brother was 13 years old and the younger 12. Both armed with guns, they went up to the group of Aborigines camped here, who knew them and came towards them without any hostile intentions. As he was talking with Yagan, the older brother17 laid his gun on his left arm, took aim at Yagan’s head at close range and pulled the trigger. Yagan fell down dead and the whole tribe took to flight.




The younger brother then said to the murderer: ‘William, it’s time to run’. They were both imprudent enough to do this, but they had hardly gone a couple of hundred yards when the natives caught up with them. As the younger brother was following the older, he saw a native aiming his spear at his brother. He stopped and shot the native dead, but at that very moment he sank to the ground, pierced by a number of spears. The older brother escaped and received the reward but was sent out of the colony, for the natives would inevitably have taken revenge on him. The body of the younger brother was found pierced by more than 50 spears. One of these, presumably the first to hit him, had penetrated right through his skull from the back and emerged at his forehead, projecting a long way.




As we approached the house, about 40 or 50 Aborigines were gathered 100 yards away. They were sitting quietly in a circle, but when we approached them they all jumped up and reached for their spears. As soon as they recognized us clearly, some of them sat down again and others came up to us, holding out their hands to us. None of them spoke a word of English. They led us into the middle of the circle where a young man was lying on his back, apparently in great pain. I examined him carefully and saw that he was wounded in several places.




We now recognized them as the same group we had seen the day before. One spear had gone right through his left upper arm and another somewhat lower down, and a third had gone through his leg. But the most dangerous wound, which seemed to cause him the most pain, was shown us by the men, who turned the wounded man over. The spear had penetrated the fleshy part of the abdomen below the left hip, and the patient complained of severe pain in the front of the right part of his stomach. We were all convinced that the spear must have penetrated right into the intestines, but when I felt his pulse there was no suggestion of fever, and I was able to put pressure on the part of his abdomen he indicated without his complaining of increased pain, so I changed my opinion.
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Yagan, a portrait painted after Yagan’s death by George Cruikshank, 1834







In the meantime, the women were making preparations to carry out their treatment. For this they had shed their kangaroo skins and were as black and naked as the day they were born. They knelt down on both sides of the patient and, one after another, they began to rub him gently on the spot that hurt. Then they spat on it and took a kangaroo bone and turned it round on the spot. Then, one after another, they came and put their mouth to the spot and sucked for a while, and then spat something out, as if they had extracted the essence causing the pain. Finally one of the women brought along two roots of (. . .), rather like parsley roots, and rotated them on the sore spot and then gave them to the patient to eat. He devoured them with a hearty appetite, which again demonstrated to me that his injuries were not serious. But what struck me as extraordinary was that the wounds, now almost 24 hours old, showed hardly a trace of swelling or of inflammation. The only explanation I could find for this was the fact that the meagre vegetable diet, low in nutrients, on which these natives mainly live, renders their bodies resistant to any inflammation.




Then they all sat down again and I carefully studied each one of them, noting their physiognomy and their expression. Neither their cranium nor their facial structure differs in the slightest from that of a European. Two girls, who looked to be about 16 or 17 years old, were by no means ugly, and had the charm typical of that age, even in savages. Fat people are quite unknown among them, but many of them are of muscular build and the female forms are not ungraceful. Their noses are certainly neither Roman nor Grecian but of a shape common in Europe. Their mouth is often at right angles to their forehead. Their mouth always suggests brutality, but not stupidity.




But most striking of all is the expression in their uncommonly dark eyes. When you look deep into them, there is nothing there. Behind the physical seeing function, there is a blank wall which makes it impossible to look deeper. It is the fable come to life, the fable of Psyche without a soul;18 and, strangely enough, if you stare fixedly into the eyes of an Aboriginal man or woman in this way, he or she is impelled to pull the most extraordinary faces. This absence of intellectual activity may be the reason why this race has never yet formulated any idea of God or any kind of religion. However, they do appear to have some notion of a continuing existence after death, for when I later asked one Aborigine who understood more English than the others where Yagan was he told me that che is lying over there but he has gone far away’. When the Europeans landed, the Aborigines thought they were their ancestors returned from the dead. But except for this belief, no trace is to be found of any religion, or any veneration of any good or evil principle, or even any fear of ghosts. True, they cannot be persuaded to leave their camp at night, but the reason for this is to be sought in habit and indolence rather than in any fear of the dark.




Here once again I was anxious to observe the prowess of their marksmen. A cap was placed on a spear at 60 paces and the best marksman stepped forward. He did not actually hit the cap, but struck the spear on which it rested, which would no doubt suffice for a duel. I found their womero [boomerang] throwing more remarkable. This is a bent piece of wood with sharp edges. They can hurl this into the air in such a way that, after climbing and rotating for 100 feet at an oblique angle, it returns to the spot from which it was thrown. They use this weapon to kill emus and birds.
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But most remarkable of all is the skill with which they climb the thickest trees, so thick that they cannot put their arms around them. For this they have a stone with a sharp edge, mounted like a hammer, with a pointed handle. With this they cut a notch into the bark, big enough for their big toe. They then stick the pointed handle of the hammer into the tree, insert their toe into the notch and ease themselves up the tree, holding on to the hammer with one hand. Then, standing on just the one toe, they make a fresh notch in the tree one step higher up, ram the hammer into the tree and ease themselves up on it, and so on until they have climbed the highest tree. They need to be able to do this to catch opossums or parrots.




The band then sat down again, when suddenly, with incredible speed, they all jumped up and seized their spears. The women ran away 40 or 50 paces and set up a dreadful howling, for some reason not plain to us. I looked round in every direction, but even my keen eyes could not make out anything in the direction in which their spears were pointing. But soon I saw three natives approaching us from that direction, with loud cries which reassured our tribe. According to their notions, he who approaches with a loud noise is a friend, whereas he who creeps up without a sound is an enemy. Therefore anyone approaching a group must shout out. The new arrivals were accompanied by a young woman and brought news of the hostile band, but we could only guess what they were talking about.




We took lunch in Mr Bull’s house and made ready to leave. As his pretty young wife stood by a ground-floor window looking out into the open country, one of these naked fellows came up to the window from outside and stroked Mrs Bull’s cheeks with both hands. Greatly alarmed, she sprang back into the middle of the room amid the loud laughter of those present. But I myself was saddened by the thought that, for at least one whole generation to come, the hard-working settlers in the interior will be entirely dependent on the goodwill of the Aborigines; that is, for that length of time they will still have it in their power to destroy hearth and home and every living thing. It often happens that, if a settler’s house is left open, one or more blackfellows will come in the evening to sit down by the fire. The settlers refrain from driving them out, as a matter of policy. Fortunately they cannot stand being in a confined space for long, and their own malaise drives them out.
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